FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/28/2025 4:56 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Case #: 1045131

Court of Appeals Case No. 85931-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Estate of
DARRELL BRYANT

RUSSELL BRYANT and KENNETH BRYANT

Respondents,

v.

ROBERT J. CADRANELL II,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dennis J. McGlothin, WSBA #28177 for Petitioner Western Washington Law Group, PLLC 10485 Northeast Sixth Street #2620 Bellevue, Washington 98004 (425) 728-7296 docs@westwalaw.com

INTRODUCTION

Jurisdiction is the power of a court to act. A court's action that it takes when it does not have the power is <u>void</u>. The consequences are draconian and absolute: a court without jurisdiction has no authority to decide the claim at all or order any type of relief. Moreover, there are different types of jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals conflated void with voidable and fundamentally erred when affirmed a Superior Court Judge's order that declared "<u>void ab initio</u>" a different Superior Court Judge's final order in ongoing *in rem* probate proceeding that granted a surviving spouse's motion to appoint Petitioner as her co-administrator of her late husband's estate. The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is inconsistent with clearly established Washington State Supreme Court precedent, which is still not well understood amongst the different divisions of the Washington State Court of Appeals.

Beyond conflating jurisdiction, there are unique legal issues that the Court should also decide because they either conflict with this Court's binding precedent or reveal fundamental conflicts in decisions issued by different divisions of the Court of Appeals. There is also a matter of first

impression regarding a recent amendment to the TEDRA statutes that permit noticed to a person's "legal representative" that was construed to mean something other than what it says, and that is a matter of public importance for this Court to determine.

For these reasons, Petitioner requests the Court accept review and authoritatively decide and declare the limited circumstances, if any, when a Superior Court judge with the coordinate power can declare a different Superior Court judge's final order in an ongoing in rem probate proceeding *void ab initio* and undo what the probate judge had already done. This answer is constitutional. It is, therefore, for this Court, and only this Court, to decide. Review should be accepted.

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Robert Cadranell is the Appellant before the Court of Appeals and the Respondent in the Superior Court TEDRA action,

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The decision for which review is sought is the Washington State Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion in *In re Estate of Darrell Bryant*, Case No. 85931-5-I, Washington Court of Appeals,

Division One (February 18, 2025) (the "Opinion"),¹

reconsideration denied (July 29, 2025).²

¹ **Appendix** at A-001 through A-013.

² **Appendix** at A-014.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the probate judge had the power to grant the surviving spouse's motion to appoint Petitioner to be her coadministrator.
- 2. Whether

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Darrell R. Bryant died intestate survived by his spouse Marie Fieldhouse (Fieldhouse) and three brothers William R. Bryant (William); Russell Bryant (Russell); and Kenneth Bryant (Ken). Fieldhouse applied to become, and became, the personal representative of Darrell's Estate. Litigation ensued between the decedent's three brothers and Fieldhouse regarding her appointment and her handling of the Estate.

In December 2022, Fieldhouse filed a Motion to Appoint Petitioner, a disinterested attorney with whom she had no pre-existing relationship, to be a second personal representative of the Estate who would co-administer it with her. CP 1290-91. She served her motion on the attorney who was representing all three of the decedent's siblings in TEDRA litigation involving

Fieldhouse and the probate estate. CP 996-97 and CP 1291. That attorney filed a Response (CP 1292) opposing the surviving spouse's motion to appoint Petitioner a personal representative. The probate judge reviewed Fieldhouse's Motion and the Response and then granted Fieldhouse's Motion and appointed Petitioner to serve as a second personal representative of the estate. CP 165-66.

The final order appointing Petitioner was never appealed. CP 1293.

As the 30-day deadline to appeal the order appointing Petitioner was expiring, Petitioner filed and served the decedent's three siblings' legal representatives with a petition to have letters of administration issued. CP 168-69 and CP 735-36. Ken filed a response and the other two siblings did not. CP 174-75; 998:16-20; and 1294, ¶23. The probate judge considered Petitioner' Petition, Ken's response, and the other two siblings' failure to respond and granted the Petition. Letters of Administration were issue in April 2023, but were never

appealed nor was any discretionary review sought. CP 188-90; CP 192.

Instead, two of decedent's three siblings filed an unverified TEDRA Petition to have the appointment order declared void ab initio. CP 1-30 and CP 42-72. The matter was heard by a commissioner who referred the "overlapping issues" to a judge for trial and recommended the TEDRA action and probate actions be consolidated before one judge to avoid inconsistent results. CP 283-86. The two siblings, however, preempted any such consolidation by each of them purporting to disqualify the probate judge and the other judge who was considering the decedent's siblings' TEDRA Petition to declare Fieldhouse's appointment void ab initio and decided it was not void ab initio and declined to set it aside. CP 37-38, CP 41.

Petitioner, even though granted nonintervention powers, proceeded as though he was appointed with intervention powers, and applied to have his fees and his counsel's fees approved by the probate judge for payment. CP 1298. The fee issues were

heard by the probate judge and granted. CP 1299. The attorney representing one of the siblings, however, was later to the hearing. CP 1298, Despite that, the probate judge permitted the attorney to present oral argument prior to entering the order. CP 1298. The attorney appeared at the designated time and presented oral argument. Neither Fieldhouse nor Petitioner attended the hearing. The Court entered its order granting both Petitioner and his attorney entitlement to reasonable attorney fees and then subsequently determined the reasonable amount of fees for each. CP 1299.

During the hiatus between the July 31, 2023, hearing where the probate judge granted Petitioner's and his counsel's fee requests the TEDRA judge declared Petitioner's appointment void ab initio because notice was not sent to the decedent's siblings; rather only to their legal representative. RP 100:17-18 and 101:3-6; CP 896-907. The TEDRA judge awarded some \$75,000 in attorney fees against Petitioner and overruled the

probate judge's order granting Petitioner and his counsel entitlement to attorney fees. CP 896-907; CP 1466-75.

Petitioner appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed,
Petitioner now seeks this Court's review.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Order Appointing Petition was not Void ab initio.

The Order Appointing Petitioner is not void. "'Jurisdiction is the power and authority of the court to act.'" *ZDI Gaming, Inc. v. Wash. State Gambling Comm'n,* 173 Wn.2d 608, 617, 268 P.3d 929

(2012) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Dougherty v. *Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 150 Wn.2d 310, 315, 76 P.3d 1183 (2003)).

Here, the probate court judge had the power and authority to appoint Petitioner to be a personal representative of the Estate.

The probate judge had subject matter jurisdiction over personal representative appointments. Subject matter jurisdiction is the authority of a court to hear and decide the type of controversy at issue. *Banowsky v. Guy Backstrom, DC*, 193 Wash.2d 724, 731, 445 P.3d 543 (2019). If a tribunal lacks subject matter jurisdiction, the

implication is that it does not have authority to decide the claim at all or order any type of relief. *Id*.

Because the absence of subject matter jurisdiction is a defense that can never be waived, judgments entered by courts acting without subject matter jurisdiction must be vacated even if neither party initially objected to the court's exercise of subject matter jurisdiction and even if the controversy was settled years prior.

In re Marriage of McDermott, 175 Wn. App. 467, 479, 307 P.3d 717 (2013). When a court acts without subject matter jurisdiction the consequences of that action are "draconian and absolute." *Cole v. Harveyland, LLC*, 163 Wash. App. 199, 205, 258 P.3d 70 (2011). The standard of review on questions of whether a court had subject matter jurisdiction is de novo. *McDermott*, 175 Wn. App. at 479, 307 P.3d 717.

The probate court had original jurisdiction to appoint Petitioner to be a personal representative. Original jurisdiction is related to subject matter jurisdiction. Original jurisdiction means an action may be filed in a particular court. *Ledgerwood v. Lansdowne*, 120 Wn.

App. 414, 420, 85 P.3d 950 (2004). Our state constitution enumerates probate matters and vests the superior court with original subject matter jurisdiction over them. Wash. Const., Art IV, §6. Original jurisdiction to grant Fieldhouse's Motion to Appoint Petitioner to be a personal representative was properly with the probate judge.

The probate court did not need personal jurisdiction to render a valid order appointing Petitioner. Probate proceedings are *in rem. In re Haukeli's Est.*, 25 Wash. 2d 328, 333, 171 P.2d 199, 201 (1946). They are conclusive against all the world even those over whom the Court has not acquired personal jurisdiction. *Haukeli's Est.*. 25 Wash.2d at 333.

The probate court properly exercised its in rem jurisdiction. In rem jurisdiction is 'far more analogous' to personal jurisdiction than to subject matter jurisdiction." *\$401,333.44*, 164 Wn. App. at 249 (quoting *Porsche Cars N. Am., Inc. v. Porsche.net*, 302 F.3d 248, 256 (4th Cir. 2002). The decedent having died a resident of King County, Washington vested the King County Superior Court and, hence, the

probate judge, with in rem jurisdiction over the decedent's property and the ability to administer it. The probate court had the *in rem* jurisdiction and, therefore, the power to appoint Petitioner to be an Estate personal representative.

Moreover, Fieldhouse was not required to provide notice of Petitioner's appointment. To be sure, Washington's Probate Code does not even require a surviving spouse notify the heirs about personal representative appointments. RCW 11.28.131 only requires notice be provided to a surviving spouse if someone other than the surviving spouse seeks to be appointed a personal representative. And if the surviving spouse seeks to have a person, like Petitioner, appointed, then no notice is required to be given. *Id., Manning v. Alcott*, 137 Wash. 13, 16, 241 P. 287, 289 (1925) ("As long as the petition is filed by the surviving spouse, *no notice is necessary*, even though the surviving spouse may not seek the appointment as administrator himself, but asks to have some one else so appointed.")

Even if notice was required it was provided. TEDRA was amended to allow notice to be provided to a person's legal representative. RCW 11.96A.110(1). Attorney Elena Garella was Ken's, William's, and Russell's legal representative in TEDRA proceedings they commenced in September 2020 seeking to remove Fieldhouse as personal representative. CP 1524 77. Garella was their legal representative, and she agreed to receive electronic notice on their behalf via the King County Scripts portal, and she was served with notice of the Motion and hearing. CP 996, 1291

Ken waived any personal or in rem jurisdiction argument when he responded to Fieldhouse's Motion without raising it. A challenge on this basis is waived if not timely asserted. A challenge on this basis is waived if not timely asserted. Modumetal, Inc. v. Xtalic Corp., 4 Wash. App. 2d 810, 836, 425 P.3d 871 (2018). Here, Ken filed a response to Fieldhouse's Motion and did not raise personal jurisdiction. He personally participated in the decision and cannot claim lack of notice makes the decision void. CP 1292, after Fieldhouse e-served Garella with the motion to appoint Cadranell and notice of the motion. 9 Therefore the Bryant brothers had an opportunity to be heard on the issue of whether Cadranell should be granted nonintervention powers.

Not only did Ken raise argument on his behalf, he raised them on behalf of all three siblings. CP 1292. Therefore the Bryant brothers cannot assert lack of notice to void the appointment order. *Matter of Est. of Vatne*, 22 Wn.App.2d 1022 (2022) (UNPUBLISHED). Moreover, defects in service, if any, were cured when notice of appointment was sent on or about June 13, 2023. CP 1316-18 and *In re Estate of Peterson*, 175 Wn. 8 App. 1012 (June 1, 2013) (UNPUBLISHED) (heirs waived notice by appearing in the case and repeatedly seeking affirmative relief from the court).

2. There is a Conflict in the Understanding of Jurisdiction Amongst the Divisions of the Court of Appeals

Division Three has identified the conflict and the conflicts amongst the divisions. It noted a

string of Court of Appeals cases are inconsistent with the above authorities and have wrongly concluded that default judgments entered by courts, even courts with jurisdiction, are void. See In re Marriage of Daley, 77 Wash. App. 29, 31, 888 P.2d 1194 (1994); Hous. Auth. v. Newbigging, 105 Wash. App. 178, 190, 19 P.3d 1081 (2001); Servatron, Inc. v. Intelligent Wireless Prods., Inc., 186 Wash. App. 666, 679, 346 P.3d 831 (2015). This

error appears to have started with *Shreve v. Chamberlin*, 66 Wash. App. 728, 731, 832 P.2d 1355 (1992), which misconstrued our Supreme Court precedent.

Division One of this court recently noted this error and persuasively explains why *Servatron* and *Daley* are inconsistent with Supreme Court precedent. *Rabbage*, 5 Wash. App. 2d at 298-99, 426 P.3d 768. We join Division One and acknowledge this error.

The premise of Mr. Orate's argument—that he was entitled to reargue his motion to vacate because the order allowing relocation was void—is a false premise. The order, even if erroneous, was merely voidable.

Matter of Marriage of Orate, 11 Wash. App. 2d 807, 813, 455 P.3d 1158, 1162 (2020). Seemingly, they have now attempted to solve the conflict within their own division. See Lamb v. Lamb 33 Wash. App. 2d 2d 609, 563 P.3d 465 (2025) ("we clarify now that only a jurisdictional defect can render an order or judgment void.

Review on this ground, if reversed, should result in reversal of the entire Opinion and Superior Court Order so there is no need to state other bases for review.

n keeping with *Dike*,. *Accord Gates v. Homesite Ins. Co.*, 28 Wash. App. 2d 271, 280, 537 P.3d 1081 (2023). Because there was no evidence in *Servatron* that the court lacked personal jurisdiction over the defendant or subject matter jurisdiction over the controversy, our conclusion that

the default judgment was void was incorrect. *Freedom Found. v. Teamsters Loc. 117 Segregated Fund*, 197 Wash.2d 116, 141, 480 P.3d 1119 (2021) (jurisdiction requires only two elements: personal jurisdiction and subject matter jurisdiction).

<u>Lamb v. Lamb</u>, 33 Wash. App. 2d 609, 614, 563 P.3d 465, 468 (2025)

F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, review should be accepted, and the Court of Appeals decision reversing the trial court orders should be overturned.

SUBMITTED: August 28, 2025.

WESTERN WASHINGTON LAW GROUP, PLLC