# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/26/2025 8:42 AM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 1045131

### WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

### IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF DARRELL BRYANT,

### RUSSELL BRYANT and KENNETH BRYANT,

Respondents,

ν.

### ROBERT CADRANELL II

Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

William John Crittenden, #22033 Attorney at Law 12345 Lake City Way NE 306 Seattle, Washington 98125-5401 (206) 361-5972 bill@billcrittenden.com

###

### I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Robert Cadranell is an attorney who was appointed to act as an administrator of the Estate of Darrel R. Bryant. The respondents are brothers of decedent Darrel R. Bryant.

In this action under the Trusts & Estates Dispute Resolution Act, Chap. 11.96A RCW (TEDRA), the trial court found that petitioner's appointment as co-administrator of the Bryant estate violated various notice requirements. The trial court removed Cadranell. The trial court also found that his actions as putative administrator were inexcusable, and it ordered Cadranell to pay respondents' reasonable attorney's fees. *Unpublished Opinion* at 4-5.

Cadranell appealed, presenting "a litany of disparate arguments" while ignoring the relevant provisions of TEDRA. *Unpublished Opinion* at 6-7, 9. The Court of Appeals affirmed

the TEDRA court's order to remove Cadranell. It awarded respondents their reasonable attorney's fees on appeal. *Id.* at 12.

Cadranell's *Petition* presents no meritorious issues, much less any issue that would warrant this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b). The *Petition* should be denied, and this Court should award respondents' their reasonable attorney's fees for answering the *Petition*.

### II. ANSWER TO STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Cadranell was appointed as co-administrator of the underlying Bryant estate while a separate TEDRA action to remove the existing administrator was pending. *Unpublished Opinion* at 2. Although the probate court had jurisdiction to issue such an order, Cadranell's appointment violated numerous statutes requiring specific notice to interested parties, including the decedent's brothers, before such an order could be issued. *Id.* at 5-6.

As required by the TEDRA, RCW 11.96A.090, respondents brought this new civil action in the King County

superior court to remove Cadranell. Unpublished Opinion at 2,

9. The TEDRA court correctly ruled that Cadranell was not properly appointed:

Mr. Cadranell and Ms. Fieldhouse violated several statutes affecting the estate in the process of having Mr. Cadranell appointed and issued Letters of Administration. The violated statutes include the failure to provide the Bryant heirs with statutorily required advance notice of the Motion to Appoint Co-Administrator Cadranell and Cadranell's Petition for Letters of Administration (RCW 11.68.041); the failure to state the names, ages, and addresses of the heirs of the deceased in the Motion to Appoint Co-Administrator (RCW 11.28.110); the failure to have either Mr. Cadranell or his attorney sign and verify the Motion to Appoint Co-Administrator (RCW 11.28.110); the failure to note an oral hearing for either the motion to appoint Mr. Cadranell Administrator or Mr. Cadranell's Petition for Letters of Administration (RCW 11.68.050), and the failure to serve the heirs with notice of Mr. Cadranell's alleged appointment and the pendency of the probate proceedings in compliance with RCW 11.28.237.

*Id.* at 5-6.

The TEDRA court held Cadranell responsible for the numerous violations of statutes that have been in the books for decades:

The wholesale failure to comply with the statutes reflects either a lack of due diligence or an attempt to deprive the Bryant heirs of notice and opportunity to be heard. As a putative Administrator, Robert Cadranell's role was that of an "officer of the court and a fiduciary for the heirs." Hesthagen [v. Harby], 78 Wn.2d [934,] 941 [481 P.2d 4 38 (1971)]. "The personal representative stands in a fiduciary relationship to those beneficially interested in the estate." Estate of Larson, 103 Wn.2d 517, 521, 694 P.2d 1051 (1985). Mr. Cadranell is held to the rule of strict accountability, Stewart v. Baldwin, 86 Wn. 63, 69, 149 P. 662 (1915), and is "obligated to exercise the utmost good faith and diligence" and to use "skill, judgment, and diligence" in the best interests of the heirs. Hesthagen, 78 Wn.2d at 942. In addition to being the Administrator, Mr. Cadranell is himself an attorney, and was also represented by an attorney. This Court finds no reason to excuse the violations of the statutes. (Emphasis added).

*Id.* at 6.

Finally, the TEDRA court "exercised [its] broad authority under TEDRA to remove Cadranell as co-administrator of the Estate based on statutory notice violations." *Unpublished Opinion* at 5. The TEDRA court also awarded respondents their reasonable attorney's fees pursuant to RCW 11.96A.150. *Id.* at 6.

Cadranell appealed the award of attorney's fees, presenting a litany of meritless arguments. The Court of Appeals affirmed, specifically noting Cadranell's sloppy briefing, RAP violations, and the lack of merit in his convoluted appeal:

The court has endeavored to identify Cadranell's arguments despite numerous deficiencies in his appellate briefing. Among other deficiencies, Cadranell did not specify the requested relief until he filed his reply brief (as discussed in section II above), in violation of RAP 10.3(a)(7). He lists 16 assignments of error and then fails to elaborate on many of them in the body of his briefs. He often raises the same or similar arguments in piecemeal fashion in different sections of his briefs. Many of his arguments fail to cite to the record or legal authority. When he does cite legal authority, the cited authority is insufficient to support the corresponding assertion. And for virtually all his arguments, he fails to explain how the trial court erred and what remedy he is seeking. (Emphases added)

Unpublished Opinion at 7 n.4. Like the TEDRA court, the Court of Appeals awarded respondents their reasonable attorney's fees pursuant to RCW 11.96A.150. *Id.* at 12.

Cadranell now seeks review in this Court.

#### III. ARGUMENT

### A. The *Petition* is meritless and presents no issue that warrants review by this Court.

Like his unsuccessful appeal, Cadranell's *Petition* is incompetently drafted and plagued by factual inaccuracies and slipshod legal arguments. Furthermore, the *Petition* is meritless and presents no issues that warrant review under RAP 13.4. Cadranell does not even cite or analyze the RAP 13.4(b) criteria for this Court's review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For example, Cadranell claims that Fieldhouse served her motion to appoint Cadranell on the attorney who represented all three brothers in a different TEDRA Petition and in the probate Estate, citing CP 996-97 and CP 1291. Petition at 4-5. This statement is inaccurate, and the citations to the Clerk's Papers do not establish otherwise. CP 996-97 is a self-serving declaration by Cadranell; it is not a source of fact with respect to whom the attorney was representing. CP 1291 is an order entered in another proceeding, which order was filed into the underlying proceeding by Cadranell's attorney, Dennis McGlothin. CP 1283. statement is also without legal relevance, for RCW 11.68.041 mandates the form of notice and methods of service. As the trial court concluded, service on an attorney who may represent the heir in a different proceeding does not comply with the statute. CP 899-901. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Unpublished Opinion at 6.

The single specific issue identified in the *Petition* is:

Whether the probate judge had the power to grant the surviving spouse's motion to appoint Petitioner to be her co-administrator.

Petition at 4. No such issue is presented in this case. No party disputes the probate court's jurisdiction to appoint an administrator. Neither the TEDRA Court nor the Court of Appeals held that the probate court lacked "jurisdiction" to appoint Cadranell.

On the contrary, Cadranell challenges the authority of the TEDRA court to subsequently *remove* him on grounds that he was improperly appointed by the probate court. Throughout this case, Cadranell erroneously has argued that the TEDRA court had no authority to remove him. Cadranell's *Petition* fails to cite any part of TEDRA, which disposes of Cadranell's argument.

Rather than addressing TEDRA, Cadranell's *Petition* suggests that the trial court and the Court of Appeals failed to recognize the probate court's "original jurisdiction" to appoint him as an administrator of the estate. *Petition* at 10. This is

entirely incorrect. No doubt the probate court had jurisdiction to appoint him. Likewise, the TEDRA court had the jurisdiction and obligation to remove him because he failed to provide statutory notice to the decedent's brothers.

As the Court of Appeals explains, Cadranell ignores RCW 11.96A.090(2), which *required* respondents to bring a new civil action in the same superior court, which they did:

To establish that Cadranell should be removed as co-administrator, Russell and Kenneth commenced a new action under 11.96A.0 90(2). Objecting to granting Cadranell's letters of administration in a new action under a new cause number was not an attempt to interfere with any particular judge's authority but was instead meant to comply with TEDRA procedure. Thereafter, although the statute permitted a party or the court to propose consolidation, to the extent of our record it was neither requested nor granted. Accordingly, the petition remained under its own cause number for adjudication. Cadranell's jurisdictional argument thus fails.

Unpublished Opinion at 9-10.

The Court of Appeals decision is based on TEDRA, which Cadranell ignores. It is not inconsistent with any decision of this Court. RAP 13.4(b).

Cadranell challenges the determination that he was required to provide notice to the decedent's brothers. *Petition* at 11-12. He first asserts that the surviving spouse was not required to provide notice pursuant to RCW 11.28.131. This argument has been rejected repeatedly, because that statute provides for special notice to the surviving spouse where the spouse is not the party to petition for letters of administration with the will annexed. It is wholly inapplicable to this case, because Darrel Bryant died intestate. The provisions of RCW 11.68.041 control. And as the trial court declared, that statute was violated in multiple ways. CP 897-899.

Cadranell then argues that respondents somehow "waived" their statutory right to notice. *Id.* at 12-13. But this incoherent assertion, like his RCW 11.28.131 argument, directly contradicts numerous specific findings of fact by the TEDRA court—*findings which Cadranell has not challenged*. *See Unpublished Opinion* at 6-7, n. 4.

The Court of Appeals disposed of Cadranell's meritless arguments about notice. *Id.* at 8-9. Even if Cadranell's appeal had arguable merit (which it does not), Cadranell has not explained how any of his many issues would warrant further review under RAP 13.4(b).

Finally, Cadranell argues that there is a "Conflict in the Understanding of Jurisdiction Amongst the Divisions of the Court of Appeals." *Petition* at 13. Cadranell cites numerous cases in an attempt to establish conflict regarding when judgments are void, but never explains how any of those cases conflict with the *Unpublished Opinion* in this case for purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The *Petition* presents no issue that warrants review by this Court. The *Unpublished Opinion* is not in conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court. Nor is it in conflict with any published decision of the Court of Appeals. There is no significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of

Washington or of the United States. And the *Petition* involves no issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b).

Rather, the *Petition* is the swan song of an attorney who refuses to accept that his own violations of statutes caused him to be removed as an estate administrator and led to orders requiring him to pay fees incurred by heirs to whom he failed to give notice. The *Petition* must be denied.

### B. Respondents request an award of reasonable attorney's fees for answering the *Petition*.

Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j) respondents request an award of reasonable attorney's fees for answering the *Petition*. Respondents were the prevailing party and were awarded reasonable attorney's fees in the Court of Appeals pursuant to RCW 11.96A.150(1). *Unpublished Opinion* at 12.

### IV. CONCLUSION

For all these reasons this Court should deny the *Petition* and award respondents their reasonable attorney's fees pursuant to RAP 18.1(j).

This answer contains 1768 words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.